
Section 7

7. Letter from Frank Bell to the Parole Commission for the
initial parole hearing, 5/27/91

This is the cover letter Mr, Bell submitted to the hearing
examiners, along with 250pages of supporting documents
and Mr. Buddress' 250-page pre-sentencing investigation
packet. It summarizes the facts of the case, the findings of
the court, a description of Larry *s conduct both while free on
bond and while in custody, and letters of support.



Frank Bell

ATTORNEY AT LAW

M a y 2 7 , 1 9 9 1

Bovet Profeaiioaal Center
177 Bovct Roed, Suite 600
SeoMeieo,CA 94402-3191
415 /341 -3362
FAX 415 /341 -1395

Carol Pavilack Getty, Chairman and Acting Commissioner
for the Western Region

U n i t e d S t a t e s P a r o l e C o m m i s s i o n
1301 Shoreway Road, Four th F loor
B e l m o n t , C A 9 4 0 0 2

Res LAYTON, Laurence John, Reg. No. 20752-053
Initial Parole Hearing at Terminal Island, June, 1991

Dear Commiss ioner Get ty :

Laurence John ("Larry") Layton has asked that his application
for parole be considered on the Commission's next docket of
hearings at FCI Terminal Island. I will appear with Larry as his
representat ive. I have previously requested permission for two
o the rs , A r t hu r P i r e l l i , Esq . , whose p rev i ous expe r i ence
representing prisoners at parole hearings will assist me, andanother person who is personally familiar with Larry Layton and the
circumstances precipitating his offense, to also be present as
representatives. I hope to learn soon that you have approved their
p r e s e n c e a t t h e h e a r i n g .

When you and your staff begin your review of Larry's case, it
will probably be somewhat familiar to you. The tragedies at
Jonestown and Port Kaituma, Guyana in November, 1978, which
surrounded the actions which led to Larry's conviction will long
remain in the minds of those of us who are old enough to remember.

It is important for me to note, however, that despite the
repojTts to the public before and during the protracted legal
proceedings, and the impressions lef t in the minds of casualfo l lowers o f the p roceed ings , Lar ry Lay ton 's ro le in the
conspiracies of which he ultimately was found guilty was minimal.It is also important to note here that Larry was found not guilty
of charges relating to these circumstances by the Guyana courts,

his first trial in San Francisco on these charges resulted
in 3urors being unable to come to an agreement, with votes of 11-
1 and 7-5 for acquittal. It was over five years later that the
t h i r d t r i a l r e s u l t e d i n L a r r y ' s c o n v i c t i o n .

Faced with the voluminous repoirts that document the many
facets of this case, it would be tempting for reviewers to only
skim over the many reports and letters which accompany the

^ Presentence Report and this letter, as they might appear to beredundant. Despite the volume, and despite what will seem, at a
glance, to be repetition, I implore you to carefully examine and
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consider each document, even though it will be time-consuming.
Larry's case is not like most other cases; it involves complex and
u n i q u e f a c t o r s a n d c i r c u m s t a n c e s , a n d t h e s o u r c e s o f t h e
information, the facts presented, the experience and extent of each
documents witer's personal knowledge about Larry and the Jonestown
experience, and sentiments expressed, separately and cumulatively,are essential to an understanding of this case. Some of these
people were prosecution witnesses or had anticipated testifyingbefore the jury; some were jurors; some were relatives or victims
of the tragedy; others are psychiatrists or psychologists who
carefully considered Larry Layton's background, within his familyand then within the Peoples Temple. Each of these statements,
individually and collectively, deserve and cry out for your careful
and ind iv idua l ized rev iew and cons idera t ion .

The Commission's decision regarding Larry's application for
parole will be the next step in the process that began thirteen
y e a r s a g o .

Documentation in Larry's case is voluminous (The Presentence
Investigation Report prepared by the Probation Officer, Loren
Buddress, is, itself, 49 pages long, and with the reports and
letters, exceeds 200 pages). Additional information accompanyingthis letter, also critical to your full understanding of this very
complex case, further addresses the several important points whichwill have direct bearing on the Commission's decision regarding
Larry's parole, and includes details about the several mitigatingcircimstances of Larry Layton's mental and emotional condition, his
position within the Peoples Temple, the nature of his relationship
with Jim Jones, and the circumstances of his and other members'
l i ves w i th in the Temple .

A f te r s i t t i ng th rough two leng thy t r i a l s , read ing the
documents submitted to him for sentencing, and hearing the
argiments of the parties, the Chief Judge for the Northern Districtor California, the Honorable Robert F. Peckham's words upon
imposing the sentences in this case, are significant:

... the Court is . . . convinced that after hearing all
the testimony in this case that Larry Layton's role in the
conspiracy to murder Congressman Ryan and Deputy Chief ofMission Richard Dwyer was less significant than that of a
nui^er of the other conspirators. Significantly, Layton wasnot himself among the people who actually shot at the
Congressman and his party. Furthermore, the Court is not
convinced, after hearing the evidence that Layton was himselfan active leader in the planning of the murders . . . his role
in the conspiracy for which he has been convicted was not as
significant as that of many of the other conspirators, rsee
Reporters Transcript of Proceedings regarding sentencing.
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March 3, 1987, enclosed, pages 50, 51, enclosed.]

Judge Peckham referred to, and read into the record, excerptsf r o m s e v e r a l o f t h e m a n y l e t t e r s h e r e c e i v e d f r o m j u r o r s ,
prosecution witnesses, Jonestown victims and survivors, and variousother interested parties. The reader is respectfully referred to
the Reporter's Transcript, enclosed and above referenced, as well
a s t h e l e t t e r s a t t a c h e d t o t h e P S I i n t h e C o m m i s s i o n ' s fi l e s .
(These letters in their entirety were a part of the PSI, and were
to be p rov i ded a l ong w i t h t he PS I f o r t he Pa ro l e Commiss i on ' s
file). It is of great significance that virtually every one of theindividuals who wrote to the Court, or Mr. Buddress, whether
survivors of Jonestown and Port Kaituma, or victims through the
loss of family members or friends during the Jonestown episode,
considers Larry Layton a victim along with those who perished, and
asks the Court for leniency, many requesting that Larry not be
required to serve any further time in custody.

J u d g e P e c k h a m ' s s e n t e n c i n g s t a t e m e n t s a n d o r d e r a r e
enlightening and instructive. He noted that although there were
differing opinions among the psychiatrists, "They both agree aboutthe domination of Jim Jones in this setting" and continued to sav
t h a t

I n t he end J im Jones des t r oyed any i nd i v i dua l w i l l t o
live that remained in Jonestown, and caused over 900 people
t o t a k e t h e i r o w n l i v e s a n d t h e l i v e s o f t h e i r c h i l d r e n .
Al though not d i rect ly re lated to the conspiracy for which
Larry Layton has been convicted, this final atrocity is
essential to an understanding of the environment in which he
lived, it is our view. . . The Court is convinced that a just
s e n t e n c e a l s o r e q u i r e s c o n s i d e r a t i o n o f t h e e n v i r o n m e n t i n
which Layton and other members of Jonestown were virtually
imprisoned. (See Sentencing Transcript, p. 57)
"Having in mind the considerations and comments" made. JudgePeckham then pronounced sentence, and established Larry's

el ig ibi l i ty for parole at five years on al l four counts. Thesect ion of the Sentencing Transcript reflect ing the Court 's
s ta temen t , i n i t s en t i r e t y, i s p rov ided f o r t he Commiss ion ' s
c o n s i d e r a t i o n i n E x h i b i t A .

Larry Layton has now served more than 5.years in prison. We
approach the Parole Commission with the hope that the Commissionwill see, as we believe to be true, that Larry Layton is an
appropriate candidate for parole at this time. We believe that thedocuments already in the Commission's possession (the PSI and all
attachments) and the documents accompanying this letter, willassist the Commission in a decision to release him now.
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The spec ific po in ts which I be l ieve jus t i fy a dec is ion by the
C o n m i i s s i o n t o p a r o l e L a r r y L a y t o n i n t h e i m m e d i a t e f u t u r e a r e
s u m m a r i z e d b e l o w. To a s s i s t t h e C o m m i s s i o n , c r o s s - r e f e r e n c e s t o
some of the appropriate documents are made. Again, I implore each
reviewer to examine and consider each of the letters and reports
c a r e f u l l y ; i t i s t h e c o n s i s t e n c y o f t h e o b s e r v a t i o n s a n d
exper iences, and of the sent iments expressed, that wi l l assist thereviewers to gain a feeling for the significant mitigating and
extenuating factors which Judge Peckham felt to be compelling, and
which also are so important to the Commission's considerations and
d e c i s i o n .

According to the findings of the jury after tr ial, Larry
Lay ton is gu i l t y o f the o f fenses o f Consp i racy to K i l l a
Congressman and an Internationally Protected Person, and Aiding and
Abetting the murder and attempted murder of Congressman Ryan and
D e p u t y C h i e f D w y e r. H o w e v e r, i t i s i m p e r a t i v e t h a t t h e P a r o l e
Commission have an understanding of the exact nature and basis of
the charges against Larry Layton in order to adequately understand
how the government was able to proceed with any charges against him
whatsoever. What seems so direct, and "cut and dry" in the charges,
"Conspiracy" to kill a Congressman and an internationally protected
person, and "Aiding and Abetting" the same actions, is, in reality,
n o t s o s t r a i g h t f o r w a r d .

As Judge Peckham reflected in his sentencing remarks, Larry
Layton was not among those who actually shot at Congressman Ryanor his party; neither did he consider Larry himself to have been
an act ive leader in the p lann ing o f those act ions.

The basis for Larry's having been charged as a "conspirator,"
or, in fact an "aider and abettor" in these offenses against
Congressman Ryan and Deputy Chief Dwyer revolves around matters far
removed from any of Larry's actions at the airport at Port Kaituma
o n N o v e m b e r 1 8 , 1 9 7 8 , a n d i n a c t u a l i t y h i s a c t i o n s w e r e f a r -
removed from any overt action or intent that either party should
be harmed, much less murdered.

The opinion of the Ninth Circui t Court of Appeals is
informative with regard to this point. Initially, the Court had
remanded the mat te r back to the D is t r i c t Cour t fo r reso lu t ion o f
a question regarding whether "such a conspiracy [to kill Ryan] was
in existence at the time the pre-arrival speeches [the subject of
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the point immediately in question] were made.* '

O n r e m a n d . . . t h e d i s t r i c t C o u r t f o u n d t h a t t h e
Government had fa i l ed to p ro f fe r su ffic ien t i ndependen t
evidence to show that a conspiracy to kill Ryan existed when
the pre-arrival speeches were made. The court, therefore ruled
initially that the pre-arrival speeches would be excluded.

Later, the district court reconsidered the admissibilityo f t h e p r e - a r r i v a l s p e e c h e s . T h e c o u r t f o u n d t h a t t h e
Government had proffered sufficient evidence to establ ish that
J o n e s a n d L a y t o n h a d p a r t i c i p a t e d i n a c o n s p i r a c v t o p r e v e n t
t h e R y ^ n d e l e g a t i o n f r o m d i s c o v e r i n g t h e t r u t h a b o u t t h ^
c o n d i t i o n s a t J o n e s t p v p . T h e d i s t r i c t c o u r t c o n c l u d e d t h a t
R u l e 8 0 1 ( d ) ( 2 ) ( E ) a u t h o r i z e s t h e a d m i s s i o n o f a
coconspirator's statements made during the course and in
furtherance of any common enterprise involving the defendantand the declarant, provided that such common enterprise was
"factually intertwined" with the charged conspiracy- . . .
(Emphasis added.) U.S.v. Lavton. 855 F.2d 1388 (9th Cir.
1 9 8 8 ) a t 1 3 9 7 , 9 8 )

Next, the 9th Circuit Court's opinion provides extremely
revea l ing ins ight to what Lar ry 's ac tua l "par t ic ipat ion" in the
c o n s p i r a c y w a s :

Having concluded that the district court 's constructionof Rule 801(d)(2)(E) was correct, we next determine whether
the Government presented sufficient evidence to establish that
Jones and Layton were participants in a conspiracy, or common

; tg gpnceaJ, firpin cpngresswan Rvan the truth .honi-t h e c o n d i t i o n s a t J o n e s t o w n .
. . . t h e d i s t r i c t c o u r t f o u n d t h a t t h e p e t i t i o n

circulated by Jones and signed by Layton prior to Ryan's
a r r i v a l c o n s t i t u t e d p r i m a f a c i e e v i d e n c e o f a c o m m o n
en te rp r i se to concea l t he t ru th abou t t he cond i t i ons a t
Jonestown. The petition, dated November 1, 1978, declared:

Many of us, the undersigned residents of
Jonestown, Guyana, have been visited here by
fr iends an relat ives. However, we have not
invited and do not care to see Congressman Ryan
( s u p p o r t e r o f m i l i t a r y a i d t o t h e P i n o c h e t
regime of Chi le), media representat ives,
members o f a g roup o f so -ca l l ed " conce rned
relatives," or any other persons who may be
travelling with, or associated with, any of
t h e s e p e r s o n s .

The court concluded that "(t]he preparation of the
p e t i t i o n , t h e e f f o r t t h a t w e n t i n t o i t s d i s t r i b u t i o n a n d
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disseminat ion, and the hundreds of s ignatures on the pet i t ion
a l l i n d i c a t e a c o n c e r t e d c o m m o n e n t e r p r i s e t o d i s s u a d e
Congressman Ryan f rom v is i t ing Jonestown and learn ing the
truth about the condit ions there." Id. at 1400, 1401 (Emphasis
a d d e d . )

T h e " p r e - a r r i v a l " s p e e c h e s r e f e r r e d t o a r e t h o s e f u r t h e r n o t e d
in the opinion at page 1401, in which Jim Jones made threatening
statements in speeches to the amassed Jonestown residents,
regarding Congressman Ryan's visi t :

T h e s e s p e e c h e s , c o n s i d e r e d i n c o n j u n c t i o n w i t h t h e
petition circulated bv Jones and signed by Layton, demonstrate
b y a t l e a s t a p r e p o n d e r a n c e o f t h e e v i d e n c e t h a t J o n e s a n d
L a y t o n w e r e p a r t i c i p a n t s i n a c o m m o n e n t e r p r i s e t o p r e v e n t
R y a n f r o m d i s c o v e r i n g a n d r e v e a l i n g t h e t r u t h a b o u t t h e l i v i n g
condi t ions at Jonestovm. Thus, the pre-arr ival speeches were
admissable as statements of a coconspirator. (Emphasis added)
It is noted that the petition was circulated by Jones and

signed by the Jonestown residents, including Larry a full eight
(flays prior to Congressman's arrival, and before the "pre-arrival"
speeches delivered to the Jonestown residents by Jim Jones.

With regard to the conspiracies to kill Congressman Ryan and
Deputy Chief Dwyer, Larry Layton's real offense was the same asthat of every person who signed the petition quoted above, and who
heard the threatening statements and professions of his fJones'^
intent, were Congressman Ryan and his party to enter Jonestown, or
w h o t o o k a n y a c t i o n t o k e e p C o n g r e s s m a n R v a n a n d h i s p a r t y f r o m

t h e t m h a b o u t t h e c o n d i t i o n s a t J o n e s t o v m a n d w i t h i n

Regarding the shootings of the Ryan party, and the deaths and
in3uries which did occur, it also is critical to point out another
important factor regarding Larry's intent (rather lack there of)
regarding harming Congressman Ryan of Deputy Chief Dwyer: when
Larry responded to the suggest ions that he a id the cause ofJonestown by keeping the parties departing from being able to
inform the world about the conditions there, it was Larry's belief
that Congressman Ryan would nofc among those (the so-called
"defec tors" ) leav ing Jonestown a t the t ime:

. . . I n t h e a f t e r n o o n o f N o v e m b e r 1 8 , t h e m e m b e r s o f
Ryan 's par ty and the depar t ing res idents boarded a t ruck to
be transported to the Port Kaituma airstrip. . . At about that
time, Layton was seen conversing with Jones. Layton then
embraced Jones, obtained a rain poncho, and announced to the
d e p a r t i n g g r o u p t h a t h e , L a y t o n , a l s o w i s h e d t o l e a v eJonestown. . . Layton was searched and no weapon was found.
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R y a n t h e n l A V t o n t o j o i n t h e o r o u p o n t h e t n i e i c .
At about this time, a Jonestown resident attacked Ryan

escaped w i t hou t i n j u r y. Rvan had
Planning to remain in Jonestown for another nioht. After the
toife attack, he decided to leave with the other members of
his party. (Emphasis added) Id. at 1393

According to the statement of the pertinent facts of the casein the appellate opinion. Id. at 1393, Larry Layton had insisted
on being seated in the plane that was scheduled to leave first (not
the plane Congressman Ryan was to be departing in). The vehicle
which carried the individuals who did kill Congressman Ryan and
injure others in the party passed the airplane in which Larry and

is no assertion bv anv parH-y that
Larry £ired at the group of individuals around or in the plane on
Which Ryan, Dwyer, and the others were to depart. Id at 1394.

mu copy of the appel la te decis ion is enclosed as Exhib i t B.The last section of the opinion, relating to Appeal No. 87-2576,
and pertaining to Layton's appeal on the basis of ineffective
assistance of counsel, also denied, has not been provided to the
Co^ission in an effort to limit the already burgeoning volume ofi n f o r m a t i o n b e f o r e i t .

While the jury in the third trial found Larry guilty of all
charges against him on technical grounds, they also recognized thathis role was minor" and that he played "a very small part in the
conspiracy," and a remarkable four of the twelve jurors wrote to
Judge Peckham to share their concerns and request the judge's
leniency in sentencing. (See Reporter's Transcript of sentencing.

attachments, "Letters of Recommendation" Chapter 4A , L e t t e r s f r o m J u r o r s ) ^
The Victim Impact Statement in the PSI also reflects several

victims beliefs that Larry's role was minimal. According to Mr.
Buddress, who spoke to Deputy Chief Richard Dwyer for purposes of
adding his statement, as a victim, to the PSI, Mr. Dwyer

. . . characterized the [Layton] as a small cog in all of this
Other v ic t ims shares s im i la r v iews:

Top ^oque: He was more in terms of a lacky - he had no
a u t h o r i t yB^rold CordsiJ,: ... he was more of a victim than a
p a r t i c i p a n tV^rmon Gosn^y: . . . Layton was involved in quite a bit of
pressure. . . [ there was] ex t reme pressuregteve Sung: He was led the wrong way by a wrong group of
p e o p l e
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The Parole Commission is asked to take Larry Layton's
indirect, remote and minimal role in the broad conspiracies against
Congressman Ryan and Chief Deputy Dwyer into consideration as

gircumstgng^P when reaching its decision about Larry's
p a r o l e .

' S Y O h o l o o i o a l G o n a i d a r a t i o n a g L a n
; o f 1 0 Y a a r a l a f B r a i n v a a h i n g .

. a v t o n ' s A c t i o n s W e r ^
>eroive Par auaa 1 e%n .

We ^lieve, and ask the Parole Commission to recognize, that
layton's actions at the airport at Port Kaituma were a result

fvl- S® f^®^"washing, coercive persuasion, thought conditioning towhich Larry Layton had been exposed by Jim Jones, for the
approximate lO years he had been immersed in the Peoples Temple.

4-u psychiatric reports prepared for both the prosecution and
f"®®. ®^® Provided along with the PSI, in Chapter 3. TheCommission is again strongly urged to read them fully, despite the

summaries and highlights from the reports provided by Mr. Buddressin the PSI. The reports are all extensive and provide important
background and conclusions regarding Larry's state of mind before,

^ ^ ^ ® p r e c e d i n g , a n d d u r i n g t h eoffense. They also are helpful in describing personal and familv
background ^ factors which were instrumental in Larrv's
S^Jones'' ̂  brainwashing/ mind control techniques used

F-A-f-A" prepared three letters orreports. His opinion, expressed in his letter dated June 30. 1981
provides an insightful and important viewing of the interplayb e t w e e n L a r r y L a y t o n a n d J i m J o n e s : m t e r p i a y

• • • It if apparent that Larry became a psychic captive
of the pathological setting represented by P.T. The evolution
of a slow process of psychic transformation of Larry under the

a p p a r e n t w h e n o n e l i s t e n s t o t h i sindividuals description of his "search for meaning." Because
Of his past history Larry was particularly vulnerable to these

" ' ® o f t h e m e n t a l c h a n g e s w h i c h h a v e
y ® ® I ? e n g a g e d i n a c t i v i t i e s w h i c h , u n d e rMrmal circumstances, would be entirely unacceptable to him.

This long preceded the tragic events of Jonestown. I have
reference to the so called criticism sessions and various
S^S®*^ ®4. Larry endured. It should be noted that Larry^® "iemands made upon him, but
fully identified with the pathological ideas of P.T. He has

® " y o p i n i o n c o n s t i t u t e s a ninduced psychotic illness. We are not dealing here with
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persuasion, but a total environment designed to being about
a pe rsona l i t y t r ans fo rma t i on i n suscep t i b l e i nd i v i dua l s . The
t e r m p e r s u a s i o n i s m i s l e a d i n g . I t i m p l i e s a g e n t e e l
relationship between the object and subject. • •

Essential to the understanding of Larry's i l lness is a
comprehension of the personality and il lness of Jim Jones andthe nature of his group. It is my opinion that People's Temple
constituted a psychotic social structure which brought about
a psychotic conversion of Larry Layton. People's Temple was
a p s y c h o t i c i n s t i t u t i o n w h i c h s o c i a l i z e d a n d r e s t r u c t u r e d
personal i t ies. As the result of these influences, Larry
developed delusional ideas, loss of ego boundaries, adaptedand exhibited bizarre behavior, and last, but not least,
showed psychotic compliance. Larry was predisposed by the fact
that he had a rather weak ego, was a rigid personality, had
a weak sense of identity, and suffered from social guilt....

Dr. Tanay concludes by saying:

I a m o f t h e o p i n i o n t h a t a t t h e t i m e w h e n h e h a s
committed the criminal acts he suffered from a disease of the
mind which rendered him unable to appreciate the wrongfulness
of his behavior, and unable to adhere to the requirements of
t h e l a w .

In an affidavit prepared for post-sentence motions. Dr. Tanay
e x p r e s s e s s t r o n g c o n c e r n s :

As a forensic psychiatrist with very extensive experience
on the subject of presentation of insanity defense it has been
my opinion that the case of Mr. Layton was imminently suitablefor the assertion of insanity defense. There were excellent
substantive and technical reasons for this particular defense.

. . . Mr. Lay ton , f o r reasons ou ts ide o f h i s con t ro l ,
became the living symbol of the tragedies associated with the
activities of Peoples Temple and its Leader, James Jones. The
defense of Mr. Layton of necessity had to deal with his own
l i f e h i s to ry, h i s i nvo l vemen t w i th James Jones and the
m o v e m e n t c e n t e r e d a r o u n d h i m .

pr. Tanay's affidavit, with curriculum vitae attached, is providedfor the Commission's review in Exhibit C.)
As can be seen from the comments of the jurors who wrote to Judge
Peckham (gee Reporter's Transcript of Sentencing, and PSI, Chapter
4 A for the Court's references and the letters, themselves), the
jurors were concerned about the brainwashing, and indicate that had
pe issue been addressed at trial, it could have made a differencei n t h e o u t c o m e :
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J M r P r K a r ^ n P r p v e n z a : . . . d u r i n g t h e p r o c e s s ( o f
deliberation) I was haunted by the larger moral question, was
Larry Layton fu l ly responsib le for h is act ions. My fe l low
jurors conv inced me h is s ta te o f mind, whether he was
brainwashed, coerced or pressured in any other way, was not
evidence in the case. We did not know the legal definition of
brainwashed and therefore had no f ramework to test the
evidence. That left me with no other choice than to convict
Larry Layton. But in my mind he is no different than any other
victim of Jim Jones. I can not separate him from those who
were foxind dead in the jungle. The vast numbers of those who
died are testimony to the extraordinary power of that evil
man. Larry Layton is one of his victims. I feel as though I
convicted a child, someone who did not have the capacity to
question his authority. The ability to reason right from wrongwas stripped away long ago. This is not a man who belongs in
ja i l . He i s no t a th rea t to anyone . . . ,

. ' Ty r p r J ^ i A . H v ^ ^ e X ; . . . I r e a l i z e L a r r y L a t o n(sic) is guilty of taking part in a horrible crime, but at the
same t ime I be l ieve he was as much o f a v ic t im as a
p a r t i c i p a n t . . . t h e t h o u g h t t h a t J i m J o n e s i s s t i l l
destroying lives 8 years after Jonestown is infuriating to me.

J u r o r J o h a n n e G e r m a i n ; . . . w e d i d n o t f e e l t h a t h e
should be punished severely. Although the defense could not
plead insanity, we do feel that the circumstances were almost
u n b e a r a b l e . . . .

j u r o r J o h n L i t t r e l l ; . . . w e h a d t o fi n d h i m g u i l t y
as charged since the Defense did not plead insanity. I plead
leniency because he spent years in a closed environment thatrevolved around Jones and the Peoples Temple. Laton (sic) did
w h a t s e e m e d r i g h t i n h i s w o r l d .

In mak ing i t s dec is ion regard ing Lar ry 's paro le , the
Commission has the opportunity the jury did not have.

Philip 6. Zimbardo, Ph.D, Professor of Psychology at Stanford
University summarized his "concluding opinions" by stating:

It is my considered opinion. . . that [Layton] was, at the
t ime o f the a l l eged c r im ina l consp i racy :

A. Suffering from a severe state of reactive depression
that affected h is dai ly funct ion ing and const i tu ted a
m e n t a l d e f e c t ;
B . s u f f e r i n g a s e v e r e i m p a i r m e n t o f c o n s c i o u s
functioning such that his normal temporal orientationwas disturbed sufficiently to render him incapable of
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analytical reasoning that required any consideration of
long- te rm, fu tu re consequences o f h is ac ts . . . ;
C . a p r o d u c t o f c h r o n i c , i n t e n s e " a t t i t u d i n a l a n d v a l u e
conditioning** to which he was subjected over a decade asa m e m b e r o f P T, w h i c h c o n d i t i o n i n g a f f e c t e d h i s
cognit ive, affect ive and behavioral funct ioning;
D . a n u n w i t t i n g c a p t i v e i n t h e t o t a l e n v i r o n m e n t
created by Reverend Jim Jones in the PT compound in
J o n e s t o w n , G u y a n a , w h i c h e n v i r o n m e n t f o s t e r e d m a s s
paranoid de lus ions and a d is tor t ion of rea l i ty -based
decis ion making;
E. because of the combination of these factors, now
able to appreciate the wrongfulness of his action, and
he lacked the substantial capacity to conform his public
conduct to the requirements of the law. (pages 1,2)

(Dr. Zimbardo*s complete reportsv are found in Chapter 3 of theofficial PSI packet for the Commission*s review.)
The findings and conclusions of John G. Clark, Jr., M.D. are

fully in concert with the above findings:
. . . I h a v e c o n c l u d e d t h a t :
1 . the Peop le*s Temple - espec ia l ly a t Jonestown -was

w i t h o u t q u e s t i o n a h i g h l y d e s t r u c t i v e c u l t i n w h i c h m i n d -
c o n t r o l w a s i n t e n s e a n d p e r v a s i v e ;

2 . M r . L a y t o n * s s o c i a l , p s y c h o l o g i c a l , a n d . . .
biological development rendered him especially vulnerable tothe mind-control techniques practiced by Jim Jones;

3 . M r. L a y t o n * s l o n g - s t a n d i n g v u l n e r a b i l i t i e s t o m i n d -
control were made especially acute during the last days of
Jonestown by the death of his mother, the paranoid fantasies
that were presented as •*news** to the PT members, the very
debilitating diet and physical regimen of the Temple, the
group consensus that the end (ritual suicide) was imminent,and the constant pressure he was under to prove his loyalty
(made especially acute by his sister*s departure).

In light of these conclusions, I believe that during the
time of he alleged conspiracy, Laurence Layton, as a result
of a mental disease, lacked the substantial capacity to
conform his conduct to the requirements of the law or to
apprec iate the wrongfu lness of h is conduct .

H e a l s o l a c k e d t h e m e n t a l c a p a c i t y t o a c t a s a
psychological ly f ree agent in the l ight of our cul ture. . .He could not evaluate the information given him by Jim Jones,

because the PT conceptualizing systems did not permit
©valuation and partly because the great pressure of

Jonestown had thrust Mr. Layton into a serious dissociative
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states in which his attention was focused solely upon Jones
and the l iberat ing possibi l i t ies of dying.

Given Mr. Layton*s lack of free agency, he was obviously
unable to appreciate the wrongfulness of h is act ions. He did
not think about right and wrong, for he was cognitively unable
to do so. His cognitive structures were such that he could do
one th ing only : obey.

(Dr. Clark's report, in its entirety is contained in Chapter 3 of
t h e P S I . )

In his response to the prosecutor's question of (as Dr Pollock
succinct ly states i t ) " . . . whether [Layton] was sane or insaneunder the rule of insanity in the 9th Circuit", Seymour
Pollock, M.D., Department of Psychiatry, University of Southern
California, responded that Layton was, in his opinion, legally saneat the time of the offenses charged against him. He also indicated
that his opinions "only address the question of Mr. Layton's mental

■ ?-- Agsue of his criminal responsibli ittv in this natter."(Emphasis added)

Dr. Pollock later (page 12 of his report, also found appended
to the PSI in Chapter 3) s ta tes , regard ing " the pecu l ia r
circumstances surrounding the instant case", that:

. . . I t can be cons ide red tha t , as a resu l t o f " coerc i ve
persuasion" experienced by this defendant, especially from his
experiences during his final six months in Jonestown, when hewas not only more emotionally depressed by his mother's dying
and death but also was physically malnourished, overworked,
fatigued, and physically diseased, as well as barraged withmuch more intense and much more sustained pressure from
Reverend Jones, under living conditions such as to lead the

t o b e c o m e p r o b a b l y e v e n m o r e
paileable,—and more acceptant of Reverend Jones' "paranoid"beliefs (that) it appears probable that this defendant entered
into the conspiracy to kill the defectors as Reverend Jones'
a g e n t .
. - 1 o p i n i o n , t h e e v i d e n c e i s s t r o n g t h a t t h i sdefendant was subjected to, what in the literature has been
called, "coercive persuasion." (Emphasis added)

i^ile Dr. Pollock believes that the evidence is equally strong that
a u t o m a t i c a n d h i s fi n a l c o n c l u s i o n s

d i f fe red w i th the o thers , he a lso observed:

. . . th is defendant 's f ree wi l l ( i .e . , f reedom in the
sense of free choice of action) was somewhat impaired, reduced
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and restricted by his People's Temple experiences and by the
increasingly pronounced malignant influence of Reverend Jones.

I t s h o u l d b e n o t e d , h e r e , t h a t d e s p i t e D r . P o l l o c k ' s
conclusion that Larry was not legally insane at the time, he
candidly expressed to defense counsel his belief that Larry was
ff lCtu^^ly—innocent and that Larry did not conspire to ki l l
Comgressman Ryan or Mr. Dwyer, but that his focus and attention was
d i r e c t e d o n l y a t " t h e d e f e c t o r s . "

Perhaps more so than with most Temple members, Larry's earlycontacts with the Temple brought him into immediate personal
contact with Jones because of Jones' assistance to Layton in
obtaining Larry's conscientious objector status, and then becauseof Jones' early affair Larry's wife, Carolyn soon after they joined
the Temple. Thereafter, the all-pervasive, increasingly intense,
and unending process of brainwashing and conditioning Larry
experienced resulted in Larry's sensitivities being so perfectlyattuned to what would be likely to gain Jim Jones' approval, that
the mere suggestion that he take the actions suggested to prevent
"the defectors" from leaving was accepted by Larry without apparent
h e s i t a t i o n .

I t would be inconceivable to most o f us that one could
surrender one's mind and will as Larry and the hundreds of others

"ov®ver, a considered examination of the many letters,affidavits and reports attached to the PSI and this letter will
give you an idea of how the process worked. The shocking and
incomprehensible acts of mass suicide and murder that happened atJonestown as the events at the airport were unfolding are testimony

.to the success of Jim Jones' perhaps unprecedented skill at
usurping peoples' will and conditioning them to respond to his
revests._ Had Larry Layton not accepted what was to have been asuicide mission at the airport (he was to have brought the smaller
aircraft dom in the jungle to prevent its occupants, Jonestown
defectors, from informing the world about Jonestown) he

certainly would have died or have been murdered with the others at
J o n e s t o w n .

According to the numerous people who knew Larry over theyears, the many who themselves experienced the process, those who
obse^ed family and friends succumb to it, and those who personallysaw ^rry during the later years and while at Jonestown, Larry was
totally under the influence of Jim Jones. The letters and otherstatements are replete with observations that Larry was so needing
of Jones' approval that he suffered the worst of the abuse of Jones
o v e r t h e y e a r s .
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In gaining an understanding of how Larry could have entered
into and remained in such a demeaning and personally destructive
environment and relationship, one must consider the wholly
disastrous psychological interplay between Jones and the Temple
a e n b e r s ( I n c l u d i n g L a r r y ) . T h e P s y c h i a t r i c A u t o p s v o f R e v e r e n d
jQpes Jon??, prepared by the esteemed and internationally renowned
psychiatrist. Otto I. Bendheim, M.D. and appended to the PSI in
Chapter 3, describes how it was that Jones came to dominate and
cont ro l the hundreds o f people in the Temple, even before i t se t
up operation in Jonestown. The report is, in essence, a blueprintfor disaster for the Peoples Temple membership and especially for
Lar ry Lay ton because, as is reflec ted in the psych ia t r i c and
psychological reports on Larry Layton (also presented in the PSI,
Chapter 3), Larry's upbringing and psychological makeup rendered
him to ta l ly suscept ib le to the techn iques Jones used for h is
coercive persuasion and control. Dr. Bendheim defines the "coercive
persuasion" techniques Jones used to manipulate and eventually
con t ro l t he Temp le members .

You are urged to carefully read that report, as the techniques
used tie, with frightening accuracy, into the primary psychological
"needs" reflected in the results of the Edwards Personal Preference
Schedu le admin is tered by Michae l P. Maloney, Ph.D. fo r the
prosecution. The test reflected Larry's primary and highest needs
t o b e :

guccoyange: (97th+ percentile) "To have others provide
help when in trouble, to seek encouragement from others, tohave others be kindly, to have others be sympathetic and
understanding about personal problems, to receive a great deal
o f a f f e c t i o n f r o m o t h e r s a n d t o h a v e o t h e r s d o f a v o r s
cheerfully, to be helped by others when depressed, to have
others feel sorry when one is sick, to have a fuss made over
w h e n h u r t . "

BfifergjTcs: (91st percenti le) "To get suggestions from
o the rs , t o find ou t wha t o t he r s t h i nk , t o f o l l ow i ns t r uc t i ons
and do what is expected, to praise others, to tel l others that
they have done a good job, to accept leadership of others, to
r e a d a b o u t g r e a t m e n . . . e t c . "

Mfillition: "To be loyal to friends, to participate in
fr iendly groups, to do things for fr iends, to form new
fr iendsh ips , to make many f r iends , e tc . "

Abasement : " A need to fee l gu i l ty when one has done
something wrong, to accept blame when things do not go right,to feel that personal pain and misery suffered does more good
than harm, to feel the need for punishment for wrongdoing, to
feel better when giving in and avoiding a fight than having
o n e ' s o w n w a y. . . e t c . "
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A l s o e x t r e m e l y r e v e a l i n g a r e t h e r e s u l t s s h o w i n g L a r r y ' s
n e e d s :

Ach ievement ; (4 th percen t i l e ) "To do one 's bes t , to be
s u c c e s s f u l , t o a c c o m p l i s h t a s k s r e q u i r i n g s k i l l s a n d e f f o r t ,
to be a recogn ized au thor i t y, and so fo r th . "

ns iB inancs : (6 th percent i le ) "Th is i s essent ia l l y the
opposite of the need for deference which was described above.Dominance is characterized by a need "to argue for one's point
of view, to be a leader in groups in which one belongs, to be
regarded by others as a leader, to be elected or appointed
chairman of committees, to make group decision, etc., etc."

Aggression and Exhibit ionism; (Both at 15 percenti le)
A need "to attack contrary points of v iew, to tel l others what
one thinks about them, to criticize others publicly, to make
fun of others, to tell others off when disagreeing with them,.
. .etc."; and a need "to say witty and clever things, to tell
amusing jokes and stories, to talk about personal adventures
and experiences, to have others notice and comment about one's
a p p e a r a n c e . . . e t c . "

One can see how Jones so easily manipulated and gained control
over Larry Layton, and how Larry's needs made him totally
susceptible to the suggestions that he stop "the defectors"from
l e a v i n g J o n e s t o w n a n d P o r t K a i t u m a .

Given these results and the content of the numerous letters
and affidavi ts in which the quest ion of Larry 's role within the

it gnv assertion that I^rrv held .nv
unsupported. As is noted, repeatedly (and in too many of theletters to specifically identify), Larry was Jim Jones' whipping
boy and the brunt of his humiliation. The first major and most
obvious example is Jones taking Larry's first wife as his "favored
mistress" in approximately 1970, and from then, it continued on.
Lara's "favored position" in Jones' view was such that Jonesassigned Larry to hold the "pee cup" while Jones relieved himselfon stage before his congregation (albeit behind a cover) so Jones
wouldn't have to interrupt his many hours-long message/ harangue
for the evening. Larry's presence is universally remembered by
other members for the abuse and humiliation he received; he is
clearly one who never was considered to be a leader or among thedecision-makers. His need for approval kept him close to Jones.

There is complete agreement among the legal and psychiatric
professionals as well as those involved with the Temple, that
Jones's mind control and coercive persuasion techniques were very
sophisticated and effective. His alternation of criticism, ridiculeand punishment with praise and affection, confusion, communication/
information control, and the other techniques outlined by Dr.



R * t L X Y T O N , L a u r « n o e J o h n , R e g . N o . 2 0 7 5 2 - 0 5 3 1 6
I n i t i a l P a r o l a H e a r i n g , J u n e , 1 9 9 1 , F C I Te r m i n a l I s l a n d

^ndheim and Dr. Richard Clark, Psychiatric Examination of Laurence*J. Lavton. A Report gradually led to the submission to what they
anticipated Jones* wishes and approved actions would be. Larry was
l i k e e v e r y o n e e l s e w h o s t a y e d , a n d l o s t t h e i r m i n d t o t h e
m a n i p u l a t i o n s o f J i m J o n e s .

By the time Larry Layton was selected by Jones and his closestassociates (all of whom knew that Jones' control over Larry was
complete), Larry had long since lost his free will and ability to
quest ion the mora l i ty or sens ib i l i ty o f what he was asked to do.
What was r ight was what Jones wanted; again, as i t had been for
y e a r s , L a r r y a c c e p t e d h i s t a s k .

A r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s e l e c t i o n o f a f fi d a v i t s f r o m s u r v i v o r s a n d
former members of the Peoples Temple are appended to this letter
in Exhibit D. These affidavits speak to the issues of Larry's
condition at Jonestown during the months preceding the tragedy, his
minimal role within the Temple and how he was seen and regarded by
these writers and others (never as a leader). The harassment Larry
experienced at the whims of Jones, his depression preceding and inthe aftermath of his mother's death, his "zombie" -like appearance
and demeanor, and the burden of carrying the assigned
responsibility for his sister's defection from Jonestown, all arereflected in these statements. Among the many pointed observations
IS a particularly ominous one, made by Richard Clark, one of the
few who actually managed to escape the Jonestown compound on the
l a s t d a y a t J o n e s t o w n :

In either late may or early June, 1978, I travelled to
Guyana. . .Larry Layton arr ived. . .around that t ime. . . J im
Jones started to harass Larry Layton the minute we arrived in
Jonestown. Jones continued to tell Layton that his sister,
Debbie Blakey, had run away from Jonestown with Peoples Temple
money. Jones con t inued to te l l La r ry Lay ton tha t he had tomake amends for his sister's defection. Jones just put the
burden on Larry Layton; he harassed Layton by talking about
how Debbie Blakey had betrayed the cause and that it reflected
badly on Larry Layton and that he (Layton) was just going to
h a v e t o m a k e i t u p . ^ ^

To w a r d s t h e e n d o f J o n e s t o w n , J o n e s e s c a l a t e d h i s
harassment of Larry Layton. Lisa Layton, Larry Layton's
mother, died towards the end of Jonestown; this had a major
impact on Layton as he had been really close to his mother and
really loved her. Jones just turned the loss of lisa Laytonand Debbie Blakey around to make it all Larry Layton's fault;
Jones had a way of turning all of Jonestown's problems into
L a r r y L a y t o n ' s r e s p o n s i b i l i t y.

Jones humiliated Larry Layton at every opportunity. . .
^rry had so many things put on him to make him look and feellike he was nobody. The mental punishment was worse than the
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p h y s i c a l •
• • . Jones blamed all the misfortunes experienced by the

Peoples Temple on Layton. Jones blamed Larry Layton for the
attacks made by the press, the Concerned Relat ives, and the
United States government. Jones claimed that the negative
thoughts generated by B lakey 's [Lar ry 's defec ted s is ter ]
" l ies" were Larry 's respons ib i l i ty.
The affidavits, which include that of Jim Jones' son, Stephen,

and others who had been in responsible positions within the Peoples
Temple, reflect similar observations. Small wonder that Larry
Layton should respond to Jones' suggestion to keep the defectors
f r o m l e a v i n g J o n e s t o w n .

The Jonestown tragedy is unique in the world's recent history.
The psychic conversions and thought conditioning of hundreds of
people accomplished by Jim Jones was frighteningly effectivelycarried out over the years and accelerated at Jonestown. But Larry
^yton is no different than the many people who perished at Jones'd i rec t ion, many of whom forced babies, ch i ldren or re luc tantvictims to take the fatal poison or shot resisting members, except
that Larry Layton was the only person alive against whom any
c h a r g e s w e r e fi l e d .

S i o n B e l o w t h e P a r o l e G u i d a l i n a a ' t o n '

The Parole Commission's Manual of Rules and Procedures
addresses the matter of parole decisions outside parole guidelines
which otherwise would be appropriate, in cases a case can be
distinguished from the "typical" cases for which the guidelines areset. Examples of reasons for decisions below the guidelines are
g i v e n .

We b e l i e v e t h a t g i v e n t h e f a c t s o f t h i s c a s e a n d t h e
circumstances under which Larry's offense was committed, four of
the SIX examples of Mitigating Offense Factors contained in the
Manual apply to Larry Layton's case:

A decision below the guidelines is warranted because of:
1 * M i t i g a t i n g O f f e n s e F a c t o r s

• • • Lar ry Lay ton 's o f fense was less ser ious than the
rated offense would normally be because he was only peripherally
inv^ved in the offense. [By all accounts, and as expressed by theCourt at sentencing, Larry did not have any direct role in the
murder of Congressman Ryan (or of the others killed at the airstrip
or in Jonestown), or in the injury of Chief Deputy Dwyer (or the
in ju r ies o f the o thers in the i r a rea) . ] ^ j r j r i
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• • . Larry Lay ton had diminished mental capacity to
oontemplate the seriousness of the offense because of the effectsof being exposed to a decade of manipulation, mind control
techniques, coercive persuasion, and delusional thought whichr e n d e r e d h i m u n a b l e t o i n d e p e n d e n t l y e x a m i n e o r a c t i n
contradiction to the suggestions of Jim Jones and his closest
advisors to take the actions which comprise the offense conduct.

3 .
... There is confirmed evidence that duress was overtly

L a y t o n t o c o m m i t t h e o f f e n s e . T h e m i n d
conditioning and coercive persuasion, resulting in Larry Layton•sloss of free will and corresponding sole focus on appeasing and
pleping Jim Jones to avoid punishment (physical and emotional) wasimplemented by Jones in an environment of fear, abuse, and
humiliation, deprivation of satisfaction of physical and emotional
needs, and peer pressure. The paranoid delusions the Jonestown
populace suffered from, that evil outside forces would destroy
Jonestown and therefore, the members* world (and Larry's)
culminated in extreme duress which, in combination with diminished
mental capacity, resulted in Larry Layton's actions and offense
c o n d u c t •

4 . E x t r e m e P r o v o c a t i o n
• • • t he re was ex t rao rd ina r i l y seve re p rovoca t i on

combined with a diminished mental state, occurring through no fault
Of Larry Layton. The provocation in this case was the perceived
threat, based on paranoia and delusions, that Jonestown would be
destroyed if the visitors and "defectors" reached the outsideworld. Larry Layton»s diminished mental capacity rendered him
incapable of realizing that the real threat was the very person

c ® ® P ® l l e d t o s e e k a n d w h o s e d i c t a t e scontrolled Larry's actions, including his offense conduct.

actions was, in the Court's opinion,
???!? ' . ® Court also sent a clear message through the tvoe ofsentence imposed ((b)(2)), that Larry should be released^ter

^ r e q u i r e d t o s e r v e w h a t o t h e r w i s e
V y ® ® " i n c a r c e r a t i o n . T h eemission is asked to recognize what was apparent to the jurors,

5-- Sentencing Judge, the professionals and many former Peoplesle t ters and a ffidav i ts - " that the decade of
conditioning and control under Jim Jones had placed Larry LaytonMder such duress that the seriousness of his actions is mitigated.

®" psychologica l factors and the effects of Jones '
conditioning, in combination with the period of time Larry has
already spent in prison, justify his release now.
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After being acquitted of all charges against him in the Guyana
c o u r t s i n N o v e m b e r, 1 9 8 0 , L a r r y w a s e x t r a d i t e d o n t h e i n i t i a l
indictment in this case. He was in custody through the first trial,
which resulted in a mistrial because the jurors could not agree on
a ve rd i c t . On Oc tobe r 1 , 1981 La r r y r e l eased f o r t he fi r s t t ime
since the tragedy, and remained on bond until December, 1986,
following his retrial and conviction. He was again released whileon appeal bond for a period of approximately 4 months. Altogether,
Larry has been incarcerated more than 7 vears pending trial and
serving the sentence imposed. During times of incarceration as wellas when he was on bond, Larry had demonstrated stability, good
ci t izenship , and ongoing effor ts toward se l f - rehabi l i ta t ion and
t a k i n g f u l l r e s p o n s i b i l i t y f o r h i s a c t i o n s .

The squal id , appal l ing, harsh, and f r ighten ing condi t ions
^rry endured while in Guyanese custody pending trial for two yearsi n i t i a l l y w e r e o n l y a n e x t e n s i o n o f t h e l i f e a t J o n e s t o w n .
Gradually, however, Larry realized and accepted the reality thatthe delusions of Jim Jones and the Jonestown experience were
factually over and that he would need to regain control over hislife. Awash in the feelings of loss and sadness of the tragedy,
^rry's time was extremely difficult. He read and learned whateverhas been available to him, and has actively worked toward regaining
a sense of his own self, making conscious decisions, and making
e a c h d a y a s s e l f - f u l fi l l i n g a s p o s s i b l e .

L a r r y ' s s t e p s t o w a r d i n c r e a s e d s e l f - k n o w l e d g e a n d
understanding, self-direction, and productive use of his time aremore easily seen in his actions and efforts since being designated
to the facility at which he has been serving his sentence. Terminal
Island. As the Commission wil l see, his successful efforts and
productivity are reflected in his most recent Progress Report, aswell as in the numerous certificates of completion he has earned.
Letters from the numerous individuals who support his immediate
release further attest to their knowledge of Larry's efforts in
custody. As observed by Jean B. Clancy, whose letter is found in
E x h i b i t E ,

T h o u g h i n i t i a l l y t e r r i fi e d a t t h e p r o s p e c t o f
incarceration, he has accepted it with courage and has
p r o c e e d e d t o m a k e c o n s t r u c t i v e u s e o f t h e t i m e . H e h a s

l b . L a r r y L a v t o n H a s U s e d H i s I n c a r c e r a t i o n t o R e fl e c t e n h t s
C o n d u c t a n d t h e To t a l i t y o f t h e C l r e u m s t a n e e a P r e e i B i t a t i n o H i s
pcarceration and to Establish a Constructive. Productive Pireetienf o r H i s F u t u r e
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remained very interested in events in the outside world. He
has requested that we send him articles on the environment and
a variety of new scientific trends. He meets regularly with
a group of inmates to keep informed on current events through
reading and guest speakers. He seems to have developed a
conv ic t i on tha t he can con t r i bu te to soc ie ty on c r i t i ca l
e n v i r o n m e n t a l i s s u e s o n c e h e i s r e l e a s e d . . . .

A s e a r l y a s J u l y , 1 9 8 8 , L a r r y r e c e i v e d a C e r t i fi c a t e o f
Achievement for having completed the Introduction to Printing
course and completing 240 hours of press time learning that skill.
H a v i n g l e a r n e d t h a t s k i l l , h e v o l u n t e e r s h i s t i m e a n d s k i l l t o
pr in t posters for the Recreat ion Depar tment .

Other Certificates of Achievement Larry has received are:
* I n t e l l e c t u a l P u r s u i t s , D e c e m b e r 2 0 , 1 9 8 8
* Techn iques i n t he Da i l y Managemen t o f

S t r e s s / A n x i e t y, A u g u s t 11 , 1 9 8 9* Wellness in the Work Place, December 16, 1989
* 36 hour Stress Management Workshop, December 17, 1989
* Silva Method of Mind Development, December 17, 1989
* Holistic Health and Stress Management, April 28, 1990
* V. T. B u i l d i n g M a i n t e n a n c e , O c t o b e r 11 , 1 9 9 0
* V.T Air Condit ioning and Refr igerat ion Systems,

M a r c h 2 2 , 1 9 9 1

In his Letter of Completion, certifying Larry's successful
completion of 245 hours of Air Conditioning and Refrigeration
Systems, the instructor, J. S. Krupa notes that Larry completed the
entire course in four months, and completed 25 wri t ten tests.
Larry's Grade Point Average was an excellent 91.0%.

Several of the courses Larry has taken have been audited,
taken solely for the purpose of learning the content of what is
being taught, rather than taking them for credits. Larry iscommitted to learning - for purposes of expanding his general
toowledge, learning more about himself, learning new methods or
techniques for living successfully within whatever environment heis in (and managing the stress in a productive manner), and
learning skills which enable him to make a contribution now, and
p e r h a p s , f o l l o w i n g h i s r e l e a s e . '

Lar ry 's outs tanding work per formance is a lso reflected in the
sampling of Work Performance Rating sheets enclosed along with theCertificates of Completion in Exhibit P. In his work as Clerk in
the Training Center, Larry's work was described by his supervisor,
B. R. McCauley when justifying his recommendation for Larrv's oav
bonus in September, 1988:

Outstanding performance throughout new employee training
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for both FCI , T. I and MDC, Los Angeles, I .E. c lasses. Made
s i g n i fi c a n t c o n t r i b u t i o n t o i t s o v e r a l l s u c c e s s .

Larry's work performance has continued to be outstanding.

La r ry i s no ted as be ing "h igh l y ac t i ve i n va r i ous i nd i v idua l
and group act iv i t ies. He is a member of the Aloha, Breakfast and
500 Mile Running clubs" and to the extent available to him, has
used the programs available to him through Psychological Services.

In that regard, and as a reflection of Larry's ongoing efforts
to gain self understanding and control, a memorandum dated January
28, 1991 from Dr. Val J. Al len, the Psychologist at Terminal Island
with whom Larry had much contact speaks highly of Larry. Dr. Allen
knew and had close contact with Larry

". . . for twenty-five months dur ing much of which t ime he has
worked as an orderly in the Psychology Department. Mr. Layton
is bright and can function independently at high levels of
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y w i t h v e r y l i t t l e s u p e r v i s i o n . A s a w o r k e r i nthis department his conduct has been exemplary. . .

Mr. Layton has taken it upon himself to become involved
in a series of therapeutic and self-improvement programs over
the course of the t ime of my own tenure at Terminal Is land.
I , p e r s o n a l l y h a v e c o n d u c t e d t h e f o r m a t o f s a i d t r e a t m e n t
i n te rven t ions fo r pe rsona l i t y change and behav io ra l
adjustment. Mr. Layton's participation was especiallyadmirable in the Stress Management Training Group . . .

Mr. Lay ton has a l so ve ry app rop r i a te l y ava i l ed h imse l f
of my professional services voluntarily for individual therapy
o n s e v e r a l o c c a s i o n s f r o m t i m e t o t i m e .

Lawerence (sic) Layton does not possess the typical
Criminal Personality so commonly seen in this environment. I
have come to know this inmate very well and believe that when
he is final ly g iven the oppor tun i ty, he wi l l do wel l as a
productive member of the free society, (geg Exhibit G for Dr.
Allen's memorandum.)

Additionally, the Director of the Attitudinal Healing Projectwhich conducts seminars at Terminal Island and other prisons also
has submitted a letter on behalf of Larry's parole, and to inform
t h e C o m m i s s i o n o f L a r r y ' s c o n t r i b u t i o n s a n d p r o g r e s s . M r.
M i l l s t e i n :

... met Larry in 1989 when he joined one of our support
groups. He has attended every weekly meeting since we beganand has been a mainstay for the others attending. Our group
is a safe place for inmates to share their feeling of fear,
frustration and anxiety and to relate to others who may be
having the same problems.
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I have spent 3 to 4 hours with Larry every week for over
a year and have watched him relate to the other group members
in the most loving and gentle ways. Larry helps our non-
English speaking members by teaching them to read and is
s e l fl e s s i n h i s g i v i n g o f h i m s e l f . . . .

Mr. M i l l s te in c loses by say ing :

I f t h e r e i s a n y w a y i n w h i c h I c a n h e l p [ t h e P a r o l e
Commission] to reach a positive decision about Larry's paroleI would like to that by saying that forgiveness means letting
go of the past and weighing the facts of the present towards
t h e g o o d o f t h e f u t u r e . ( E x h i b i t 6 )

I t i s Mr. M i l l s t e i n ' s c l os ing s ta temen t t o t he Pa ro le Commiss ion
which has become a guiding light to Larry Layton.

J o y c e H i y a n e , w h o m e t L a r r y w h i l e h e w a s o n b a i l b e f o r e h i s
s e c o n d U . S . t r i a l , a n d w h o s e l e t t e r t o t h e C o m m i s s i o n a l s o i s f o u n d
in Exhibit H, summarizes Larry's attitude and approach well:

Though he has suffered setbacks in h is l i fe , he is s t i l lable to meet each day with a genuine curiosity, willingness
t o l e a r n , a n d t h e e n e r g y t o p a r t i c i p a t e t o h i s f u l l e s t
ability. . . he writes about books he has read (mostly
history), new skills he has acquired (ceramics, printing,
physical fitness), suggestions for ways to help me accomplish
my goals; he sends me excerpts from poems he has found that
he thinks may be of interest to me (I write poetry) ; sometimes
I get a painting he has done. His tone is always upbeat,
p o s i t i v e a n d p a t i e n t w h e n h e m e n t i o n s h i s u n k n o w n f u t u r e a n d
v e r y e n c o u r a g i n g a n d s u p p o r t i v e w h e n h e w r i t e s a b o u t m i n e .

I n h e r l e t t e r ( E x h i b i t H ) , a n o t h e r f r i e n d , L a u r i e N e t r e b a
n o t e s :

... he has turned his time in prison into a time for being
good to others and improving himself in any way he can.

Anyone who knows Larry will attest to his positive attitude,his consistently outstanding work performance, his eagerness to
l e a m a n d c o n t r i b u t e , a n d h i s e x c e l l e n t a n d r e s p e c t f u l
relationships with other prisoners and all staff, and those family
a n d f r i e n d s w i t h w h o m h e i s i n c o n t a c t .

g e M w c t W U t t * 0 » g o n a B e t w e e n T r i a l , a n d
m a i n q A p p e a l A t t e s t s t e H i s B u c e e a a f u l " R e h a b l l H i . t l o m i

The let ters to the Parole Commission in f rom fami ly and
friends provide many people's familiarity with, or glimpses into
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the remarkab le and very p roduc t i ve e f fo r ts o f Lar ry Lay ton wh i le
he was on bond before and during his second trial, and while he was
on appea l bond . Du r i ng t h i s t ime , La r r y was e f f ec t i ve l y on
probation for five years, during which time he reported regularly
to the Probation Officer assigned to his case (and now Chief U.S.
Probation Officer for the Northern District of California), Loren
B u d d r e s s .

Du r ing tha t t ime La r ry obeyed a l l ru les and l im i ta t i ons
imposed on him. While free on bail, Larry continued his college
e d u c a t i o n , o b t a i n e d g a i n f u l e m p l o y m e n t , r e - e s t a b l i s h e d a n dmaintained close family ties, and developed a close personal
relationship with a woman whom he had hoped to marry, had the
outcome of the t r ia l and sentence permit ted.

Larry obtained a real estate license and was studying stocksand investments just prior to the second trial. He, in short,
conducted himself as a model citizen for the entire period he was
in the community, as he has since.

At sentencing, as is reflected in Chapter 4 of the PSI, more
than 60 letters to the Court urged the Court's leniency. Exhibits
B, H, and I to this letter contain an additional approximately 40
letters, urging Larry Layton's release on parole. Many of theseletters relate the writers' admiration and respect for Larry
because of the manner in which he conducted himself while on bail
between trials; indeed, several of the writers did not know Larry
until that time, and relate their amazement at how Larry, despite
what he was facing on a daily basis, could proceed with the
patience, love and positive attitude he possessed.

S a n d r a H i y a n e , L a r r y ' s f o r m e r fi a n c e , h a s w r i t t e n t h e
commission to urge Larry's release. Although now married and the
mother of a young child, Ms. Hiyane wanted to share her support of
Larry and her desire to see him released with the Commission.

I had a relat ionship wi th Larry f rom 1982-1989. We. . .
p lanned a l i fe together i f th ings worked in his favor. His
incarceration put a halt to our plans. . .

. . .1 was surprised at how well Larry could function
after Jonestown and its shocking outcome. He held and pursued
respectable jobs, managed his own finances and had good
f r i e n d s . . . ^

When Lar ry re tu rned f rom Guyana and back to "normal
society" he was able to function well. His reality is the same
reality we all make judgments by and during the time we kneweach other well I always he made reasonable judgments and law-
abiding decisions. In my opinion he is not a threat to society

^ nor could he be involved in the same kind of predicament.
I've admired his positive spirit and desire to improve
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h i m s e l f t h r o u g h o u t o u r f r i e n d s h i p a n d d u r i n g h i s
i n c a r c e r a t i o n . . . .

^ile on bail, Larry used every opportunity to improve himself
opportunit ies for his future and personal fulfil lment. In^ developing sol id and deeply meaningfu l re lat ionships

with many (and re-establishing relationships with those lost
because of the Peoples Temple, such as with his father), Larry
attended college classes at the College of the Redwoods in Humboldt
County, Eureka, studying, among various subjects, art, computer
science, accounting and real estate, Larry worked managing realestate properties, and after studying and becoming licensed for
real estate sales, was so employed. He was joyous over regaining
a sense of what the "real world" was, and being a part of it again.
Larry was well on the way back to being "whole," and in control of
h i s l i f e .

Lara's "rehabilitation" is not rehabilitation in the classicsense, where a pattern of law violating conduct must be reversed.His IS, perhaps more aptly, in a "recapturing" process, where, once
out from iwder the domination of the force, manipulations, and
coercion of Jim Jones and the paranoid environment of the Peoples
Temple, Larry has been able to respond to a normal environment. Hehas been able to examine the experience he endured, the acts in
Which he became involved, and his submission to the forces and
manipulation, and learn, and move on. It is clear that Larry hasbeen able to "recapture" himself and in doing so, is
" r e h a b i l i t a t e d . "

In his Evaluetiop on page 47 of Larry's PSI (written in
Jangary, 19^7, Larry's Probation Officer, Loren Buddress, who was
responsible for monitoring Larry's performance and adjustment whileon bail and got to know Larry well over the more than five years
he superv ised Lar ry, s ta ted :

It is this writer's belief that Mr. Layton poses no threat to
anyone at this time, and after more than eight years of
contemplating his past actions, I believe he is not in need
o f f u r t h e r r e h a b i l i t a t i o n .

h P a r o l e D e t e r m i n a t i o n C r i t e r i a :

that Larry Layton has met the parole determination
c r i t e r i a a s s e t f o r t h a t 1 8 U . S . C . 4 2 0 6 :

1. Larry Layton has substantially observed the rules of the
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i n s t i t u t i o n t o v h i o h h e h a s b e e n c o n fi n e d . L a r r y L a y t o n * s
ins t i t u t i ona l pe r fo rmance and ad jus tmen t , and a l l aspec ts o f h i s
conduct in custody have been outstanding, as discussed above.

2 . T h e n a t u r e a n d o i r o u m s t a n o e s o f t h e o f f e n s e a n d t h e
history and characteristics of Larry Layton support a decision to
parole him immediately. Larry's role in the offense was minimal,
and his act ions were aberrat ional. He was act ing not as he would
h a v e a c t e d w e r e h e i n c o n t r o l o f h i s t h o u g h t s , d e c i s i o n s a n d
ac t ions , bu t in a s ta te o f d im in ished menta l capac i ty, as i s
reflected in the d iscuss ion above and ver ified in the many le t ters
a n d a f fi d a v i t s i n t h e a p p e n d e d e x h i b i t s . T h e C o m m i s s i o n i s a s k e d
to give much weight to the psychological reports which describe the
extremely sophisticated and effective techniques used by Jim Jones,
and t he s t a temen ts o f t he w r i t e r s o f l e t t e r s and a f fidav i t s who ,
themselves were victims of Jim Jones' manipulation and control, and
who, themselves , e i ther escaped Jonestown, or, fo r tu i tous ly, were
n o t p r e s e n t o n t h e fi n a l d a y .

The h is to ry and charac te r i s t i cs o f Lar ry Lay ton a re l i kew ise
w e l l d o c u m e n t e d i n t h e p s y c h o l o g i c a l r e p o r t s , l e t t e r s a n d
a f fi d a v i t s i n t h e e x h i b i t s t o t h i s l e t t e r. L a r r y w a s r a i s e d a
Quaker, and in the opinion of everyone who has known him, has been
and is considered to be a loving, sensitive, caring, and above all,
non-violent person. He is a hard-working gentle person, whose one
a c t o f c r i m i n a l c o n d u c t , c o m m i t t e d i n a s t a t e o f d i m i n i s h e d m e n t a l
capac i t y, has ove r - r i dden and des t royed h i s o the rw ise c l ea r and
consistent pattern of good character and law-abiding conduct.

3 . L a r r y L a y t o n ' s r e l e a s e w o u l d n o t d e p r e c i a t e t h e
seriousness of his offense or promote disrespect for the lav. Larry
L a y t o n h a s s e r v e d o v e r 7 v e a r s i n p r i s o n f o r o f f e n s e s c o m m i t t e d 1 3
years ago, in which he was minimally involved, and while under theinfluence of an extraordinar i ly evi l man, J im Jones. Larry
e x p r e s s e d w h a t h i s p r o b a t i o n o f fi c e r

. . . be l i eved to be overwhe lm ing remorse abou t the en t i re
t r a g e d y a t t h e a i r s t r i p . H e s t a t e d t h a t t h e d e a t h s a n d
i n j u r i e s a t t h e a i r s t r i p w i l l h a u n t h i s c o n s c i e n c e f o r t h eres t o f h i s l i f e , and he spoke o f the need to p rove to
himself , and others, that he is worthy of being al ive and
hav ing surv ived the t ragedy.

Mr. Buddress also reported the comments of many of the surviving
v i c t i m s a t t h e a i r s t r i p .

Although at the time the PSI was prepared, no letter had beenreceived from Monika Bagby, a passenger in the smaller plane in
which Larry was present, and who was one of the three individuals
shot, her letter is contained in Chapter 4 C, and also is quoted
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In part in Judge Peckham's remarks at sentencing. Mr. Buddress
reported the statements of Mr. Gosney, one of "the defectors" who
had been sho t by La r r y :

" L a y t o n w a s i n v o l v e d i n q u i t e a b i t o f p r e s s u r e a n d t h i s
s h o u l d b e t a k e n i n t o a c c o u n t . " H e r e c a l l e d t h a t e x t r e m e
pressure . . . and referr ing to Jonestown, Gosney related, " I t
was a closed community and he (Layton) was extremely needy of
Jones ' s app rova l . I see h im as a t o ta l l y and bas i ca l l y
dest royed person. " He conc luded by say ing, " I don ' t fee l he
is a th reat to anyone. "

E v e n D e p u t y C h i e f D w y e r, i n j u r e d b y o t h e r s ' a c t i o n s n e a r t h e
C o n g r e s s m a n R y a n ' s p l a n e s t a t e d t o M r. B u d d r e s s t h a t :

. . . the tragedy at Jonestown and at the airstr ip would
have occurred with or without Mr. Layton and he characterized
the defendant as "a small cog in all of this." (from PSI)

Tim Bogue, who also was injured with those at the larger plane
wrote a lengthy letter to the Court (and contained in the PSI),
t o w a r d t h e e n d , e x p l a i n s :

. . . B a s i c a l l y w e w e r e s t r i p p e d o f o u r d i g n i t y, p r i d e ,
individualism, endurance and finally our will to survive. Very
few people were able to maintain any spirit to resist, this
includes two of my sisters and three brother-in-laws for they
r e m a i n e d i n J o n e s t o w n .

. . . Sir, what I am trying to achieve is for you and
o t h e r s t o u n d e r s t a n d , L a r r v i s n o t a c o n s p i r a t o r o r m u r d e r e r .
he IS a victim iust like the rest of us at that point and tine
he had his own wil l very systematically broken down to where
it no longer existed, his act ions were not of his own choice.

I wish I could express in words for you to understand he
had no choice. We were like zombies, no longer caring if we
l ived or d ied just so long as i t would end.

To b e q u i t e h o n e s t w i t h y o u s i r , i f I w a s i n h i s s h o e s
( thank God I wasn' t ) I don' t know that I wouldn ' t have done
t h e s a m e .

Sir in conclusion I wish if at all possible drop the
c h a r g e s , f o r w e a l l s u f f e r e d t h r o u g h t h i s o r d e a l . . . .
(Emphasis added)

Every one of the let ters to the Commission, even from those
many who lost children or other family members at Jonestown, ask
f o r L a r r y ' s p a r o l e o r l e n i e n c y.

Michael Cartmell, formerly Deputy District Attorney with the
Mendocino County District Attorney's Office, former Peoples Temple
member, sole survivor of his family, all of whom died in Jonestown,
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a n d n o w h u s b a n d o f L a r r y ' s s i s t e r w r o t e :

La r ry ' s con t inued impr i sonment seems u t te r l y i r re levan t
a s a d e t e r r e n t . N o r , c a n L a r r y ' s r e l e a s e d e p r e c i a t e t h e
seriousness of the crimes. The Jonesto%m tragedy will haunt
the wor ld 's col lect ive memory whether or not Larry is in
prison, Ironically, the longer he remains in prison, the more
he is viewed solely as the unfortunate proxy for Jim Jones.

My appeal for Larry's release should not be tainted bythe personal re lat ionship that b inds us. I lost my ent i re
fami ly in Jonestown, no t to ment ion many dear f r iends. You
m a y b e s u r e t h a t I w o u l d n ' t b o t h e r t o w r i t e i f I f e l t t h a t
L a r r y h a d e v e n t h e r e m o t e s t c o n n e c t i o n t o t h e i r d e a t h s .
( E x h i b i t I )

Regarding Larry 's re lease, Raymond Valent ine wr i tes:
T h e r e a r e t w o i n i t i a l q u e s t i o n s . . . T h e fi r s t i s w h e t h e r

he has paid his debt to society, and the second is whether he
represents a threat to society. To me the answers are crystal
c lear. Lar ry has amply pa id h is debt to soc ie ty ; indeed

^ further internment takes into the murky zone in which Larryas an indiv idual s tar ts to pay for the s ins of J im Jones and
h i s o r g a n i z a t i o n .

Regarding the second point, Larry is mi ld mannered and
during his quarter century. . . he has displayed a kind of
demeanor and does not represent by any s t re tch of the
imagination any threat whatever to society. . . . (Exhibit I)

Bridget Moar expresses her opinion that
... In no way should we, the public minimize or forget

J o n e s t o w n . N o n e t h e l e s s , L a r r y L a y t o n s h o u l d n o t b e h e l d
accountable for the entire tragedy. Larry has served, without
incident, a reasonable prison term for his involvement with
Jonestown. Please now, consider granting Larry parole and the
ab i l i t y to move on . (Exh ib i t H)
If those most directly familiar with the tragedy of this case,

jurors, direct victims, and relatives of victims, feel Larry Laytonhas been sufficiently punished and deserves parole, it seems that
the quest ion of whether his re lease would depreciate the
®®^i®vsness of the offense should be and is already answered.

4. Larry Layton's release would not jeopardize the public
welfare, in addit ion to the assessment of Chief U.S. Probation
OFficer Loren Buddress that Larry "poses no threat to anyone at
this time" (written four years ago), letters from jurors, victims
of Jonestown, and many friends and family underscore his
assessment. Claire Janero, whose teenage son and daughter died at
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J o n e s t o w n , m a k e s a n e m o t i o n a l p l e a f o r L a r r y ' s r e l e a s e . H e r
poignant letter to the Commission (Exhibit E) regarding her lossand the difficulty she has had in coping, closes by saying:

L a r r y L a y t o n d o e s n o t d e s e r v e t o b e i n c a r c e r a t e d . H e i s
a bright, humane, loving person, who like the rest of us put
his trust into the hands of Jim Jones. God knows his only
d e s i r e w a s t o b e i n g p e a c e a n d b r o t h e r h o o d t o a l l e a r t h s
p e o p l e . L a r r y n e e d s t o g e t o n w i t h h i s l i f e , h e i s o f n o
d a n g e r t o a n y o n e - a l l h a s b e e n w r e n c h e d o u t o f h i m i n
u n m e a s u r a b l e p a i n a n d s o r r o w. P l e a s e - I f I w h o l o s t m y
precious children do not hold him responsible for the Guyana
t r a g e d y y o u c a n s u r e l y o b j e c t i v e l y u n d e r s t a n d t h a t h e i s n o
t h r e a t w h a t s o e v e r t o a n y c o m m u n i t y h e l i v e s i n .

R s . P a r o l e G u i d e l i n e s .

The parole guidelines in Larry's case, presumably, wil l be
based on his offense being rated of Category Eight severity. He has
a salient factor score of 10. His guidelines for parole will,
t h e r e f o r e , b e 1 0 0 + m o n t h s .

The Commission is urged to recall that "these time ranges are
merely guidelines. J^ere the circumstances warrant, decisionsoutside of the guidelines (either above or below) may be rendered",
a n d j u s t i fi e d i n c a s e s t h a t a r e n o t " t y p i c a l . " G r o u n d s f o r
departing downward are discussed above, and wil l not be addressed
a g a i n h e r e .

C O N C L U S I O N

We are asking the Parole Commission to take a fully justifiable and
just action: to release Larry Layton, now, to parole. After serving
more than seven years in prison, undergoing the enormous punishment
of three trials (two after having been acquitted of all charges in
Guyana), and having lost many friends to the tragedy, we ask thatthe physical incarceration of Larry Layton be terminated.

The justification for Larry's release is well stated by one of
those who has written to the Commission (Exhibit I), urging his
re lease , Marga Rose -Hancock :

A s I u n d e r s t a n d i t , y o u r c o n s i d e r a t i o n m u s t b a l a n c e t h e
applicant's rights with those of the community which deserves
protection from those who threaten harm, and also expects just
punishment of transgressors and the upholding of respect due
t h e l a w. T h e r e l e a s e o f L a r r y L a y t o n c a n a c h i e v e s u c h a
b a l a n c e , i n m y v i e w :
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1 . H i s g e n t l e n a t u r e s u g g e s t s n o t h r e a t . W h e n h e i s
r e l e a s e d h i s c o n n e c t i o n t o h i s f a m i l y — w h o
demonstrate love and stabil ity in their steady
c o n c e r n f o r L a r r y — w i l l b e s u s t a i n i n g ; a n d w i t h
t h e s u p p o r t o f p a r o l e c o n d i t i o n s w i l l p r o m o t e
positive re-entry into productive society. Those
influences wi l l be good ones.2. Unlike the many who suffered and died in Jonestown,
but like other survivors who yet grieve, Larry
Layton and his family continue to be victimized by
the awful v io lence of those months and minutes in
Guyana . Add ing to the su f fe r ing o f th i s i nd i v idua l
by additional incarceration is beyond any meaning
o f e f f e c t i v e p u n i s h m e n t . I h o p e t h a t o t h e r s w h o
surv i ve can find mercy fo r one who bears a deb t
d i sp ropo r t i ona te to h i s respons ib i l i t y i n i t s
i n c u r s i o n .

3. Respect for the law has been thorough in the serial
of trials, in Guyana and the US, that have required
Larry Layton and the Layton family to undergo public
r e p e t i t i o n s o f t h e i r s u f f e r i n g s i n a n d r e l a t e d t o
Jonestown, and to the agony of events which whi le
t h e y c a n n o t b e f o r g o t t e n , m u s t b e s u r v i v e d .

I hope you can determine that justice will be served by your
acceptance of Larry Layton•s application for parole.
We, too, hope you can agree that Larry's parole is warranted,

a n d t h a t y o u w i l l o r d e r h i s r e l e a s e .

e s p e c t f u l l y s u b m i t t e d .

K B E L L

E x h i b i t s a t t a c h e d
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